FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 9/19/2019 1:05 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/1/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97724-1 Court of Appeals No. 51841-4-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PATRICIA LANDES, Petitioner,

v.

PATRICK CUZDEY, Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

By:

Drew Mazzeo
Bauer Pitman Snyder Huff Lifetime Legal, PLLC
1235 4th Ave E #200
Olympia, WA 98506
(360) 754-1976
dpm@lifetime.legal

Attorney for Patricia Landes

1. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Petitioner, Patricia Landes ("Landes"), respondent/appellee below, asks this Court to review the decision of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section 2.

2. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

After an unlawful detainer show cause hearing, Thurston County Superior Court granted Landes' complaint praying for a writ of restitution, a judgment for back due rent, and for attorney fees against Patrick Cuzdey ("Cuzdey"), petitioner/appellant below. Division 2 of the Court of Appeals reversed and remanded for a jury trial, finding material issues of fact of whether an enforceable unilateral contract/rental agreement was formed as the basis of the unlawful detainer action. *Landes v. Cuzdey*, 2019 Wash. App. LEXIS 2218, 2019 WL 3938726 (filed August 20, 2019).

3. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 3.1. Whether as a matter of law a residential tenant residing in a dwelling unit, e.g., mobile home, who is not entitled to residential tenant protections/provisions under chapter 59.20, RCW, is entitled to residential tenant protections/provisions under Chapter 59.18, RCW, where such residential tenant's rental agreement is only for residential use of real property but such agreement "concern[s] the use and occupancy of the dwelling unit," e.g., mobile home, because without the agreement for possession and use of the real property the residential tenant has no lawful access to the dwelling, e.g., mobile home? *See* RCW 59.18.030(29) (formerly RCW 59.18.030(24)). Yes. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).
- 3.2. Whether as a matter of law a holdover tenant-at-will or tenant-at-sufferance, with no legal right to possess a landowner's real

property, enters into an enforceable unilateral contract after performing on the landlord's offer and promise to make such person a month-to-month tenant by choosing to remain on the landlord's property past the date the landlord promised the month-to-month tenancy would begin, if the tenant remained there? Yes. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

- 3.3. Whether as a matter of law reversal and remand for a jury trial to determine alleged material factual issues after an unlawful detainer show cause hearing is proper when the trial court made specific factual findings supported by substantial evidence, addressing the alleged factual issues, or, alternatively, whether as a matter of law reversal and remand for a jury trial to determine alleged factual issues is proper under CR 56 when all evidence and testimony regarding whether or not an enforceable rental agreement was formed was before the trial court and specifically ruled upon? No. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).
- 3.4. Whether as a matter of law a promisee to a promisor's unilateral contractual promise can change the terms of the unilateral contractual promise by making an (alleged) counteroffer at the same time as performing on the unilateral contractual promise? No. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).
- 3.5. Whether, under an objective manifestation theory of contracts, the subjective intent of a promisee to a unilateral contractual promise, or other extrinsic evidence expressed outside of the written instrument/contractual promise, is admissible to show an intention independent of the unilateral instrument/contractual promise or to vary, contradict, or modify the written words within the unilateral instrument/contractual promise? No. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

4. STATEMENT OF FACTS

4.1. In 2014, Landes terminated Cuzdey's tenancy-at-will with notice. *Landes*, 2019 Wash. App. LEXIS 2218, *3. Cuzdey reacted by suing Landes for ownership of her real property. *Id.* The trial court deemed his complaint frivolous. *Id.* Cuzdey appealed but did not initially stay this quiet title decision. *Id.* Cuzdey refused to vacate Landes' real property and

became a hold over tenant-at-will or tenant at sufferance. See id.

- 4.2. In November of 2015, Landes served a "Notice to Begin Rental" on Cuzdey that in substance was a unilateral contractual promise to rent the non-exclusive use and occupancy of her real property on a month-to-month basis. *Id.* at 4. Landes promised Cuzdey that he could lawfully reside on her real property for \$1,500.00 per month if he decided to remain there on and past January 1, 2016. *Id.* She promised that other applicable terms of his month-to-month tenancy would be supplied by Chapter 59.18, RCW, as it was expressly incorporated by reference. *Id.*
- 4.3. On January 1, 2016, Cuzdey did not communicate with Landes, but performed by remaining on Landes' real property. *See id.*
- 4.4. On January 19, 2019, Cuzdey sent Landes' counsel "rent in the amount of \$1,500.00." *See id.* at 6. He attached to the rental payment a letter stating he did not admit to being a tenant of Landes, he was appealing the quiet title action ruling, he was reserving his arguments from that matter, and that he was paying rent under protest. *Id.*
- 4.5. In February of 2016, Cuzdey sent Landes rent again in the amount of \$1,500. *Id.* The memo line of the money order read "'RENT' FOR FEB 2016." *Id.* No further correspondence was attached.
- 4.6. In March of 2016, the trial court granted Cuzdey a stay of enforcement of the quiet title action after he posted a supersedeas security.

- *Id.* at 6-7. Cuzdey continued residing on Landes' real property. *Id.*
- 4.7. In April of 2017, Division 1 affirmed the trial court's decision that Landes owned the real property and remanded as to the mobile home titled in Landes' name, finding material issues of fact remained regarding ownership of the mobile home. *Id.* at 7.
- 4.8. By October of 2017, Cuzdey's petition for review before this Court regarding the quiet title action was denied. *Cuzdey v. Landes*, 189 Wn.2d 1014, 403 P.3d 42 (2017). Landes demanded rent due or to vacate. *Landes*, 2019 Wash. App. LEXIS 2218 at 7. Cuzdey remained on Landes' real property and she filed an unlawful detainer action. *Id*.
- 4.9. On November 2, 2017, Landes moved for a show cause hearing and that was granted. (CP at 3-33, 34, 35-36). At the initial show cause hearing, the trial court continued the show cause hearing to January 12, 2019. (RP (January 12, 2018) at 4). Landes filed a motion for summary judgment as a means to present the uncontroverted evidence and testimony to trial court and to give Cuzdey more time to respond than at a typical show cause hearing. (CP at 263-444). Cuzdey responded with his documentary and testimonial evidence. (CP at 258-62, 37-45, 46-57). Landes replied. (CP at 58-157). There was and is no other relevant evidence to present.
- 4.10. On January 12, 2019, at the show cause hearing, the trial court requested the parties clarify the procedural posture of the case, and the

parties expressly agreed that "the Court has essentially a correct procedural frame to do anything that the Court could do in a show cause hearing, which could include moving the case to trial, dismissing the case if there are procedural infirmities, or making a ruling on the merits to enter an eviction." (RP (January 12, 2018) at 4) (emphasis added).

- 4.11. The trial ruled in favor of Landes finding that Cuzdey entered into an enforceable unilateral contract, and month-to-month rental agreement in January of 2016. *Landes*, 2019 Wash. App. LEXIS 2218 at 8-9. The trial court specifically made two important factual findings:
 - Mr. Cuzdey was represented by counsel when his attorney stated Mr. Cuzdey's circumstance was governed by Landlord Tenant Act. Based on transcripts and filings submitted in this action, Mr. Cuzdey's attorney and Mr. Cuzdey understood paying rent in January of 2016 would cause Mr. Cuzdey to enter into a contract governed by the Landlord Tenant Act.

The court has proper subject matter jurisdiction over this action based on Mr. Cuzdey entering into an enforceable contract in January of 2016.

Id. at 8. On appeal, Division 2 ruled that "[Mr.] Cuzdey presented issues of fact regarding whether he was a 'tenant' under the unlawful detainer statute that *must be tried by a jury*." *Id.* at 10 (emphasis added).

5. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

5.1. As a Matter of Substantial Public Importance, Where a Residential Tenant has a Rental Agreement Regarding Residential Real Property and that Agreement Concerns the Use and Occupancy of a Dwelling Unit, Chapter 59.18,

RCW, Should Apply When Chapter 59.20, RCW, Does Not.

Courts avoid absurd results and strained consequences. Wright v. Engum, 124 Wash.2d 343, 351-52, 878 P.2d 1198 (1994). Statutes and chapters are not read in isolation; rather, they are read in context so that they are in harmony. Judd v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 152 Wn.2d 195, 203, 95 P.3d 337 (2004). The meaning of words are controlled by other associated words. Cito v. Rios, Slip Opinion, Case No. 75393-2-1 at 11; Jongeward v. BNSF Ry. Co., 174 Wn.2d 586, 601, 278 P.3d 157 (2012). Advancing the legislative purpose is the primary tenant of statutory interpretation. Bennett v. Hardy, 113 Wn.2d 912, 928, 784 P.2d 1258 (1990). The purpose of Chapter 59.18, RCW, is to govern "the rights and remedies of residential landlords and tenants." Faciszewski v. Brown, 187 Wn.2d 308, 314, 386 P.3d 711, 714-715 (2016).

Chapter 59.20, RCW, governs residential tenancy agreements where a landlord rents real property to two or more mobile home owning tenants as part of a business. Chapter 59.18, RCW, governs residential tenancy agreements where a landlord owns and rents a mobile home to a tenant. Chapter 59.12, RCW, governs commercial tenancy agreements and rental agreements that are not governed by Chapters 59.18 nor 59.20, RCW. Chapter 59.12 contains no special protections, procedures, or remedies for residential tenants and landlords; whereas, Chapters 59.18 and 59.20, RCW,

contain numerous special protections, procedures, and remedies for residential tenants and landlords.

Division 2 held in an unpublished decision, *Parsons v. Mierz*, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS 776, 2018 WL 1733519, that Chapter 59.18, RCW, could not apply to rentals of residential real property—only—even if the tenant resided in a mobile home, for residential purposes, on such real property. Under *Parsons* holding, Chapter, 59.18, RCW, only applies to rentals expressly contracted for "dwelling units," and can never apply to rentals for residential real property only, but nonetheless "concerning the use and occupancy of a dwelling unit." *Compare* RCW 59.18.030(29) *with Parsons*, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS 776, *7. If *Parsons* is correct, thousands of residential tenants residing in a dwelling unit not falling under Chapter 59.20, RCW, do not have available any special protections, procedures, rights, or remedies for residential tenants espoused in Chapter 59.18, RCW.

Here, Landes explicitly challenged *Parsons* on the basis that if a rental agreement entitles a residential tenant to reside on the landlord's real, or other, property for residential purposes, such rental agreement "concern[s] the use and occupancy of a dwelling unit." *See* RCW 59.18.030(29). The strained and narrow test from *Parsons* of whether the landlord explicitly contracted to rent a "dwelling unit" should be overturned. Instead, the law should be that Chapter 59.18, RCW, applies

where (a) a tenant is entitled to use the landlord's residential real property to place a single mobile home, or other dwelling unit, on, and (b) when Chapter 59.20, RCW does not apply. This is an issue of substantial public importance as overturning *Parsons* will protect thousands of residential tenants that have *no residential protections just because of the arbitrary happenstance of the location of a dwelling unit*, e.g., mobile home.

First, *Parsons* does not advance the legislative purpose of Chapter 59.18, RCW, which is to govern "the rights and remedies of residential landlords and tenants." *See Brown*, 187 Wn.2d at 314. It judicially created gaps between Chapters 59.12, 59.18, and 59.20.

Second, *Parsons* does the opposite of harmonizing the statutory scheme set forth in Chapters 59.12, 59.18, and 59.20, RCW, in contradiction to precedent. *See e.g.*, *Randy Reynolds & Assocs. v. Harmon*, 193 Wn.2d 143, 156, 437 P.3d 677, 684, (2019) (holding "it is critical to understand the statutory scheme of unlawful detainer actions.").

Third, *Parsons* conflicts with statements of law in other cases. *See e.g.*, *id.* (holding "Because this case involves a residential tenancy, it is governed by the RLTA"); *Brown*, 187 Wn.2d at 314 (holding "Title 59 RCW sets out Washington's landlord-tenant law. Chapter 59.12 RCW governs unlawful detainer actions, while chapter 59.18 RCW, known as the Residential Landlord-Tenant Act of 1973 (RLTA), governs the rights and

remedies of residential landlords and tenants."); *Indigo Real Estate Servs., Inc. v. Wadsworth*, 169 Wn. App. 412, 280 P.3d 506 (2012) (holding "Because this case involves a residential tenancy, it is governed by the Residential Landlord-Tenant Act of 1973 (RLTA), chapter 59.18 RCW"); *Housing Auth. v. Silva*, 94 Wn. App. 731, 734, 972 P.2d 952, 954 (1999) (holding "The unlawful detainer statutes create a special, summary proceeding for the recovery of possession of real property."); *Vaksman v. Lystad*, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS 1721, *6, 2017 WL 3169008 (holding "The Residential Landlord-Tenant Act of 1973 (RLTA), chapter 59.18 RCW, creates a special and summary proceeding for the recovery of possession of real property.").

Fourth, *Parsons* leads to absurd results causing residential tenants to have no residential protections. Additionally, placing a residential mobile home tenancy under Chapter 59.12, RCW, is not efficient nor equitable nor just for the residential tenant or landlord. For example, under *Parsons*, residential tenants and landlords lose favorable protections:

- Residential tenants are subjected to double damages. (Compare RCW 59.12.170 with RCW 59.18);
- No provision for an explicit show cause hearing. (*Compare* RCW 59.12 with RCW 59.18.370);
- Residential tenants can be evicted merely by the plaintiff posting bond (*Compare* RCW 59.12.090 *with* RCW §§ 59.18.375, 380);

- Residential landlords do not have to provide receipts of payments, and copies of rental agreements (*Compare* RCW 59.12 with RCW §§ 59.18.063, 065);
- Armed service members have no protections (*Compare RCW 59.12 with RCW §§ 59.18.200, 220*);
- Residential landlords can seize and sell personal property of the tenant and do not have to store it. (*Compare RCW 59.12 with RCW §§* 59.18.230, 312);
- Residential landlords can bring retaliatory evictions (*Compare RCW* 59.12 with RCW §§ 59.18.240, 250);
- O Residential tenants have no protections regarding security deposits (*Compare* RCW 59.12 *with* RCW §§ 59.18.253, 260, 270, 280, 285);
- Residential tenants can be evicted without court order, and have their utilities intentionally shut off. (*Compare* RCW 59.12 with RCW §§ 59.18.290, 300);
- Residential tenants are not protected from domestic violence and threats by residential cotenants or a residential landlord. (*Compare RCW* 59.12 with RCW §§ 59.18.352, 354); and
- Residential landlords nor tenants have any protection from gang violence (*Compare* RCW 59.12 *with* RCW 59.18.510).

Fifth, *Parsons* is based on interpreting the word "property" in isolation from the rest of the chapter. Stated simply, Chapter 59.18, RCW, currently uses the word "property" over 200 times. Just like in 1973 when the act was created, the word "property" still clearly refers to real property, personal property, public property, or rental property, depending on the context. (*See* Appendix 2). However, central to *Parsons* is that the word "property" can never mean "real property." Rather, all 200 plus times the

word "property" is used in Chapter 59.18, RCW, under Parsons, it only means a definition not added to the chapter until 2011: "all dwelling units on a contiguous quantity of land managed by the same landlord as a single, rental complex." This makes no sense. The better interpretation that harmonizes the statutory scheme of Chapters 59.12, 59.18, and 59.20 is that, in 2011, the legislature added a definition of the word "property"—but it did not supplant how the word was previously used in context.

Sixth, and perhaps most dispositive, *Parsons* misinterprets the term "Rental Agreement." The term "Rental Agreement," under RCW 59.18.030(29), "means all agreements which establish or modify the terms, conditions, rules, regulations, or any other provisions *concerning* the use and occupancy of a dwelling unit." (emphasis added). The definition *does not* state ". . . all agreement which establish or modify the terms . . . [contracted for] the use and occupancy of a dwelling unit." Obviously, a rental agreement for the use of residential real property "concern[s] the use and occupancy" of a "dwelling unit," i.e., mobile home, placed on the residential real property. See RCW 59.18.030(29). The dwelling unit, i.e., the mobile home, and any residents and/or occupants on the real property would be trespassing and unlawfully on the real property but for a rental agreement that expressly or implicitly allows otherwise. Furthermore, nothing in Chapter 59.18, RCW, suggests the residential landlord must own

or expressly contract to rent a "dwelling unit."

Finally, it was argued in *Parsons*, and by Cuzdey, that Chapter 59.18, RCW, places duties on residential landlords that only have to do with dwelling units and that since the residential landlord cannot as a practical matter fulfill those duties, Chapter 59.18, RCW, should not apply. *See* RCW 59.18.060. This argument falls flat as the same RCW states "No duty shall devolve upon the landlord to repair a defective condition under this section, nor shall any defense or remedy be available to the tenant under this chapter, where the defective condition complained of was caused by the conduct of such tenant. . . ." RCW 59.18.060(15). Since a residential tenant causes the mobile home to be placed on the residential real property in situations such as the *Parsons* and the case at hand, those statutory duties simply do not apply. *See* RCW 59.18.060(15).

5.2. <u>Division 2's Decision is in Conflict with Precedent Regarding Unilateral Contract Formation and Prevents Landlords from Placing Holdover Tenants-at-Will Under the Residential Landlord-Tenant Act.</u>

A contract has, strictly speaking, nothing to do with the personal, or individual, intent of the parties. *Everett v. Estate of Sumstad*, 95 Wn.2d 853, 855, 631 P.2d 366, 367 (1981). A contract is an obligation attached by the mere force of law to certain acts of the parties. *Id.* The dispositive difference between bilateral contracts and unilateral contracts is that a promisor's

unilateral contractual promise is accepted by *substantial performance*, not by exchanging *mutual* terms and promises. *See Browning v. Johnson*, 70 Wn.2d 145, 422 P.2d 314, 316 (1967) (holding "A unilateral contract is one in which *a promise is given in exchange for an act or forbearance.*") (emphasis added); *Storti v. Univ. of Wash.*, 181 Wn.2d 28, 36-38, 330 P.3d 159, 163 (2014) (holding "unilateral contracts can be accepted only through performance and not by the making of a reciprocal promise [by the other party]").

The fact that a promisee cannot change a promisor's "unilateral" contractual promise with a counteroffer is what makes the entire contract "unilateral" and *not* "bilateral." *See e.g., Browning*, 70 Wn.2d at 148; *Higgins v. Egbert*, 28 Wn.2d 313, 318, 182 P.2d 58 (1947) (holding promisee to unilateral contract could not make 'what would amount to a new offer' to the promisor). Deviating from common bilateral contract offer and acceptance principles, the parties' "meeting of the minds" in a unilateral contract is demonstrated by examining the promise made with whether the promisee substantially performed. *See Browning*, 70 Wn.2d at 148; *Storti*, 181 Wn.2d at 36-38. That's it. The "meeting of the minds" is *not* demonstrated by examining the parties' (irrelevant and inadmissible) subjective intent as espoused, or not espoused, outside of the *unilateral* promise/instrument. *Browning*, 70 Wn.2d at 148; *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v.*

Seattle Times, 154 Wn.2d 493, 503, 115 P.3d 262, 267 (2005) (holding "[S]urrounding circumstances and other extrinsic evidence are to be used 'to determine the meaning of specific words and terms used' and not to 'show an intention independent of the instrument' or to 'vary, contradict or modify the written word [within the instrument]."). Under the context rule, "admissible extrinsic evidence does not include evidence of a party's unilateral or subjective intent as to contract's meaning" and "does not include evidence about the parties' desires." See Hearst, 154 Wn.2d at 503.

A tenant-at-will's legal right to be on an owner's real property terminates with any notice. *Najewitz v. Seattle*, 21 Wn.2d 656, 658, 152 P.2d 722, 723 (1944); *Chambers v. Hoover*, 3 Wash. Terr. 107, 111, 13 P. 466, 467 (1887). The tenant-at-will is then a holdover tenant-at-will or tenant at sufferance, with *no right to possession of the property*. 49 Am. Jur. 2d, sec. 140, at 152; *State v. Brumfield*, 1998 Wash. App. LEXIS 1691, *8.

Here, public policy wise, review should be granted because the decision by Division 2 aids in preventing the Residential Landlord-Tenant Act from ever (fairly) governing holdover tenant-at-will situations, *strongly encourages dangerous self-help evictions and domestic violence*, and

¹ Someone living on your property when the situation has digressed to utter hatred is a powder keg of self-help, crime, and/or domestic violence. Holdover tenancies-at-will are powder kegs as there is no *expedited* procedure to evict such holdover tenants or to protect the rights of such persons or landlords. Chapter 59.18, RCW, fairly handles residential tenancies. Unilateral contracts in this context create periodic tenancies that amicably

conflicts with precedent on the formation of unilateral contracts. *See Storti*, 181 Wn.2d at 36-38.

At to the latter, Division 2 held that Cuzdey "simply remaining" on Landes' property after January 1, 2016, did "not necessarily *reflect an intent to perform* on the offer [and unilateral contractual promise extended to him by Landes']." *Landes*, 2019 Wash. App. LEXIS 2218 at 21. (emphasis added). Thus, Division 2 had the opportunity to bring clarity to this issue of unilateral contract formation in the context of holdover tenants-at-will, but instead only injected more uncertainty.

Division 2 erred by trying to guess at what Cuzdey's irrelevant and inadmissible subjective intent was by remaining on the property on January 1, 2016. That subjective intent did not matter when it came to unilateral contract formation. *See Storti*, 181 Wn.2d at 36-38 (holding "unilateral contracts can be accepted only through performance and not by the making of a reciprocal promise [by the other party]"); *Hearst*, 154 Wn.2d at 503; *Everett*, 95 Wn.2d at 855. Simply put, the inquiry was not whether Cuzdey "inten[ded] to perform." Rather, the proper inquiry was the purely legal, not

.

prevent these powder kegs from exploding by placing the tenancy under Chapter, 59.18, RCW and giving the parties statutory rights and remedies. Additionally, it should be noted that nearly always—this case is a rare exception—unwelcomed holdover tenants-at-will move out *before the start of the tenancy offered to them via the unilateral contract*. But that inexpensive, amicable, ability to de-escalate the situation and get the unwelcomed holdover tenant-at-will to voluntarily vacate the landowner's property is severely undermined by Division 2's decision here. Review should be granted.

factual, inquiry of whether Cuzdey *substantially and objectively* performed on the unilateral contract by remaining on the property. Cuzdey plainly did from the perspective of any fair-minded person.

First, Cuzdey was given a notice to vacate in 2014. (CP at 30-32, 296). This terminated his tenancy-at-will. *See e.g.*, *Chambers*, 3 Wash. Terr. at 111. Thereafter, Cuzdey was a holdover tenant-at-will, or tenant at sufferance, with zero legal right to be on Landes' real property. 49 Am. Jur. 2d, sec. 140, at 152; *Brumfield*, 1998 Wash. App. LEXIS 1691 *8.

Second, the Notice to Begin Rental was inarguably a promise extended by Landes for Cuzdey to become a month-to-month tenant. As such, it was a unilateral contractual promise. *Browning*, 70 Wn.2d at 148.

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