FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/21/2019 4:44 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97724-1

**Supreme Court
of the State of Washington**

Patricia Landes,

Petitioner,

v.

Patrick Cuzdey,

Respondent.

Answer to Petition for Review

Kevin Hochhalter
Attorney for Appellant

Olympic Appeals PLLC
4570 Avery Ln SE #C-217
Lacey, WA 98503
360-763-8008
kevin@olympicappeals.com
WSBA # 43124

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

3. Argument

This Court should deny review. The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with any published decision of this Court or of the Court of Appeals. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). No constitutional questions are involved. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(3). The petition does not involve an issue of substantial public interest. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Cuzdey will address Landes’ arguments in the order in which she presented them. First, there is no substantial public interest in this Court extending the Residential Landlord Tenant Act beyond its statutory bounds in a manner that would create absurd results. Second, the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with precedent regarding formation of unilateral contracts. Third, the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with precedent regarding unlawful detainer procedures. This Court should deny review.

3.1 There is no substantial public interest in extending the RLTA beyond its statutory bounds.

Landes takes issue with the statutory scheme enacted by the legislature in chapters 59.12, 59.18, and 59.20 RCW and asks this Court to fill what she perceives as a hole in the

statutes. Her arguments focus not on the Court of Appeals decision in this case, but on her personal disagreement with a prior, unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals in *Parsons v. Mierz*, No. 49324-1-II (Wn. Ct. App., Apr. 10, 2018). This Court cannot provide the relief Landes seeks.

As a threshold matter, this Court should deny review because Landes is asking the Court to review a different case. This Court will only review a decision of the Court of Appeals if a party to that case brings a timely petition in that case showing the issues addressed by the Court of Appeals in that case meet the criteria of this Court for accepting review. *See* RAP 13.1, 13.3, 13.4. Landes cannot ask this Court to review *Parsons* one and a half years after the decision when she was not even a party to the case.

Landes has not demonstrated how the Court of Appeals decision in this case implicates any of the issues decided in *Parsons*. Here, the Court of Appeals did not decide whether the RLTA applies at all. *Landes*, slip Op. at 24, 25. The Court of Appeals did not interpret the RLTA or analyze the statute's language. Landes' arguments criticizing *Parsons* have no bearing on the Court of Appeals decision **in this case**. Landes has not demonstrated any substantial public interest in this Court reviewing this case.

In this case, the Court of Appeals correctly perceived that the dispositive issue on appeal was whether there was any rental agreement **at all**, regardless of whether any agreement would have been governed by the RLTA. The existence of a rental agreement between Cuzdey and Landes is a matter of contract law, not application of the RLTA. Landes' criticisms of *Parsons* have nothing to do with the Court of Appeals decision in this case and fail to demonstrate any reason for this Court to accept review.

Even her criticisms of *Parsons* are unfounded. *Parsons* did not create gaps in the statutory scheme. Because the landlord-tenant and unlawful detainer statutes are in derogation of the common law, they are strictly construed. *Randy Reynolds & Assocs., Inc. v. Harmon*, 193 Wn.2d 143, 156, 437 P.3d 677 (2019). The “gap” through which an owner of a mobile home placed upon land leased from another falls under the general unlawful detainer statute and not under either the RLTA or the Mobile Home Landlord Tenant Act is mandated by the plain language of the definitions in each statute.

The MHLTA applies only to “mobile home parks” with space for “two or more mobile homes” where a tenant rents a “mobile home lot.” RCW 59.20.030(6), (12), (13), (14), (24); RCW 59.20.040. The RLTA applies only to “rental agreements” that entitle a “tenant” to use and occupy a “dwelling unit” owned by a

“landlord.” RCW 59.18.030(10), (15), (29), (32).¹ Neither set of definitions encompasses the fact pattern in *Parsons* or here.

There is no evidence that the legislature intended to fill this gap, particularly where the MHLTA specifically excludes property leased for placement of only one mobile home, by way of the “two or more” requirement in multiple definitions. No matter what the public policy reasons might be for extending similar tenant protections to the *Parsons* fact pattern, this Court cannot write such protections into the statute when the legislature chose not to do so. *Randy Reynolds*, 193 Wn.2d at 155 (“we must not add words where the legislature has chosen not to include them”).

Landes fails to demonstrate how any of these RLTA issues have anything to do with the Court of Appeals decision in this case. The Court of Appeals declined to address the RLTA and correctly decided the case on the basis of contract law. There is no substantial public interest in expanding the RLTA beyond its statutory language. Even if it were desirable to do so, it is a task

¹ Landes incorrectly argues that *Parsons* misinterpreted the word “property.” The *Parsons* court correctly applied the RLTA’s definition of “property” to interpret the meaning of that term in the RLTA’s definition of “landlord.” In any event, the court had already correctly determined that there was no “dwelling unit,” “rental agreement,” or “tenant” under the RLTA. Even without addressing “landlord,” the RLTA could not apply. “Property” was not central to the decision.

that must be left to the legislature. This Court cannot provide the relief Landes seeks. This Court should deny review.

3.2 The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with precedent regarding formation of unilateral contracts.

Landes fails to demonstrate any conflict between the Court of Appeals opinion and precedent regarding formation of unilateral contracts. The Court of Appeals correctly held that unilateral contracts require mutual assent, demonstrated by a tender of performance that matches the terms of the offer. The Court of Appeals correctly perceived a material factual dispute over whether Cuzdey's tender of performance matched the terms of Landes' offer.

To the extent Landes' "Notice to Begin Rental" can even be considered an offer, it offered to make Cuzdey a month-to-month tenant under the RLTA. Cuzdey's response consisted of money orders **and a letter** explaining the tender, rejecting Landes' offer of a month-to-month tenancy under the RLTA by stating that Cuzdey was not a tenant and was paying \$1,500 under protest and "under order of the superior court," reserving his rights for purposes of appeal and remand. CP 42. Other evidence demonstrated that Cuzdey's reference to the order of the superior court meant that Cuzdey was paying to obtain a

temporary stay for purposes of appeal, not to obtain a rental agreement. *See* CP 38-41.

Unilateral contracts are subject to traditional contract concepts of offer, acceptance, and consideration. *Storti v. Univ. of Wash.*, 181 Wn.2d 28, 36, 330 P.3d 159 (2014). An offer must evidence an intent to be bound by the terms of a proposal. *Id.* If acceptance does not match the terms of the offer, there is no contract. It is, instead, a rejection and counter-offer, with new terms that can be accepted or rejected by the original offeror. *See, e.g., Kysar v. Lambert*, 76 Wn. App. 470, 477-78, 887 P.2d 431 (1995). Landes agrees that this requires a “meeting of the minds,” demonstrated by comparing the offer with the performance. *See* Pet. for Rev. at 13.

Landes goes wrong in misinterpreting both *Higgins v. Egbert*, 28 Wn.2d 313, 182 P.2d 58 (1947), and *Hearst Commc’ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 115 P.3d 262 (2005). The Court of Appeals decision in this case does not conflict with either of these precedents.

Landes erroneously insists that Cuzdey’s letter was inadmissible under *Hearst*. Washington follows the “objective manifestation theory” of contracts. *Hearst*, 154 Wn.2d at 503. Under this theory, the courts determine the parties’ intent by focusing on the objective manifestations of the parties, particularly in writing, “rather than on the **unexpressed**

subjective intent of the parties.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

Unexpressed intent is “generally irrelevant if the intent can be determined from the actual words used.” *Id.* at 503-04. The courts enforce what was actually written, not what was intended to be written. *Id.* at 504.

Cuzdey’s letter, which accompanied and set the terms for his tender of payment, **was an objective manifestation** of the terms of his counter-offer. It was not an “unexpressed subjective intent.” It was expressed, in writing, in words that Landes could read and understand in accordance with their ordinary meaning and the context in which they were written. Cuzdey’s words can be interpreted in context to show that he was not paying rent as a tenant but was offering to pay Landes for a stay of her eviction efforts until he could post an appropriate bond for the appeal.

Far from being inadmissible, Cuzdey’s letter was part and parcel with his tender. It was an objective manifestation that he rejected Landes’ offer of month-to-month tenancy. Because Cuzdey’s tender did not match the terms of the offer, no rental agreement was formed. Because the parties’ competing evidence raises genuine issues of material fact as to whether a contract was formed, the Court of Appeals correctly remanded for trial.

Landes also misreads *Higgins*, 28 Wn.2d 313. The *Higgins* court did not prohibit an offeree from making a counter-offer. Indeed, the court’s statement that Higgins could have attempted

to negotiate new terms means that he **did have** the power to make a counter-offer to try to change the terms of the deal. *See Higgins*, 28 Wn.2d at 318.

What Higgins could **not** do was make a noncompliant performance and then ask the court to enforce Egbert's promises. The court held that Egbert was within her rights to reject Higgins' noncompliant performance. *Id.* at 318-19. The principle that we must take from Higgins is that in order for an enforceable unilateral contract to be formed, the **performance must match the terms of the offer**. Egbert was not bound to perform her offer because Higgins' performance was noncompliant. He did the thing that she asked, but he did it too late. The result is the same here. Cuzdey did the thing that Landes asked—pay \$1,500—but he did it with attached terms and conditions that did not comply with the offer. Landes was not bound to accept Cuzdey's noncompliant performance. There was no contract.

Landes' new argument that Cuzdey accepted by residing on property was raised for the first time on appeal and should be disregarded. *See Reply Br. of App.* at 2-4. The trial court decision was expressly based on Cuzdey's tender of payment, not on residing on the property. CP 161. Landes' new argument purports to create a binding contract by virtue of Cuzdey **doing nothing at all**. Cuzdey's presence on the land was the status quo

under his decades-old tenancy at will. It cannot serve as consideration for a new contract. *Cf. Labriola v. Pollard Group, Inc.*, 152 Wn.2d 828, 834, 100 P.3d 791 (2004) (“There is no consideration when one party is to perform some additional obligation while the other party is simply to perform that which he promised in the original contract”).

The Court of Appeals concluded that Cuzdey performed at least in part by paying the amount of money demanded by Landes, but also made a counteroffer by introducing new terms that were not in the original offer. *Landes*, slip Op. at 17. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that this evidence creates a genuine issue of material fact regarding mutual assent, requiring a jury trial. *See Id.* Nothing in this decision conflicts with either *Higgins* or *Hearst*. This Court should deny review.

3.3 The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with precedent regarding unlawful detainer procedure.

Landes’ argument that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with precedent regarding unlawful detainer procedure is proven incorrect by her own citation to *Randy Reynolds & Assocs., Inc. v. Harmon*, 193 Wn.2d 143, 437 P.3d 677 (2019). In *Randy Reynolds*, this Court explained the purpose and procedure of show cause hearings in unlawful detainer actions. *Id.* at 156-58. A show cause hearing is not a replacement for

trial. Rather, it is required only if the landlord wishes to obtain a pre-judgment writ of restitution. *Id.* at 157. “Whether or not the court issues a writ of restitution at the show cause hearing, if material factual issues exist, the court is required to enter an order directing the parties to proceed to trial on the complaint and answer.” *Id.*

The Court of Appeals correctly determined in this case that material factual issues exist, requiring a trial prior to final judgment. The trial court erred in entering final judgment, whether on the basis of a show cause hearing or under the summary judgment standard. The Court of Appeals correctly reversed. This Court should deny review.

4. Conclusion

Landes’ petition does not meet any of the criteria in RAP 13.4(b). There is no substantial public interest in extending the RLTA beyond its statutory bounds, especially in a case that the Court of Appeals resolved without having to address the RLTA at all. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with precedent regarding unilateral contracts or unlawful detainer procedure. This Court should deny the petition.